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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the beginning of 
the deposition of Monica Adcock, and we are on the 
record at 10:31 a.m. Counsel may proceed. 

MONICA ADCOCK, a Witness, called by 
the Plaintiff, first being duly sworn, testified as 
follows: 

EXAMINATION BY MR. GA VIN: 

Q. Good morning again. 
A. Good morning. 
Q. My name is Charles Gavin. I go by Chuck. 

And I represent the Estate of Diane Franklin, the 
plaintiff in this case. 

I'm going to be asking you some questions 
today about what happened with regard to 
Ms. Franklin's incident. All your questions are to be 
answered under oath. Do you understand the 
significance of what "under oath" means? . ,, __ 
~ A~ 

Q. We're sort of like a mini courtroom, just 
in a conference room. So you're under the same oath 
here that you would be if you were in a courtroom, 
okay? 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 
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Page 5 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. If you don't understand my question, just 

. ask me to repeat it or rephrase it, and rn try to do 
my best. If you need a break, please just let us 
know, okay? 

I'm going to jump around a little bit and 
take some things out of order, and because your 
answers to the questions might affect the rest of the 
~--position that I do, okay? 

A. Okay. 
Q. So the first thing I'm going to do is ask 

you to look at that document in front of you that has 
a logbook on the front of it. Do you recognize that 
document? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Is that the logbook that was in effect at 

the time of Ms. Franklin's incident? 
A. Yes. 
Q. All right. And it appears to me from the 

reports that you were the person that was in charge of 
conducting the investigation initially; is that 
correct? 

A. Yes. 
Q. So as part of that investigation, did you 

look into the various versions of the logbook as they 
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originally were, as they were changed, and then as 
they were revised? 

A. Originally, yes, on that Monday. 
Q. So on Monday, what was the first version 

of the logbook that you saw? Was it page 109 in 
here - and you can flip to page 109 -- 110, or 111? 

A. So it was page 110. 
Q. All right. So that's the first version 

that you saw? 
A. That I saw. 
Q. And just for the record, that 110 has a 

blank entry on December 11th, and a scnbbled-out 
entry on December 12th; is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 
Q. So th11t's the w11y you won Id h~we seen it 

when you first conducted your investigation? 
A. Yes. 
Q. At some point in time were you aware that 

it was changed to the version on 109? 
MR. PACE: Object to the form. You can 

auswer, if you caii. 

A. Please repeat the question. I'm sorry. 
Q. At some point did you discover or did you 

learn that the logbook entries had changed to the 
version that exists on page 109? 
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Page 7 

A. No. The first version I saw was on page 
110, and then I was made aware that a correction bad 
been made to that, to 110. 

Q. All right. And what was the correction 
that was made to 11 O? 

A. It was the Friday, December 11. 
Q. All right. So what was the correction 

that was made? 

was an error where it bad been written in. There was 
a check on Friday in Ms. Franklin's spot. .. \'(\ ~ 

Q. So how was the correction made? ·--r' \ '1> ,\ 
A. The correction - I did not see how the • "). . luA 

correction was made, but I was made aware that tJtey ~~vi"'" 
had changed it. 

Q. Was the correction that was made what is 
reflected as page 109? 

A. So the only sheet that I saw at the time 

was 110. 
Q. Did you ever see 109? 
A. I did not see 109. 
Q. Were you aware that a new entry had been 

made after you first saw the first sheet on 11 O? 
MR. PACE: Object to form 

A. Was I aware that a correction had been 

made? 
Q. Correct. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And who made the correciion? 
A. Diane. 
Q. Did you authorize her to do it? 
A. I told her to - she said I wrote in the 
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wrong spot. I said to make sure that she put what 
actually did occur. So my instructions were not to 
white out. They were jmt to show that there bad been 
a correction. 

Q. So you instructed her to reflect that 
Ms. Franklin bad, in fact, been checked on, on Friday, 
based on what Ms. Ross told you? 

MR. PACE: Object to the fonn. I think 

you're saying the opposite of what she said 
Q. All right. 
A. No, sir. She let me know that she wrote 

her check-in time for a different resident in the 
wrong spot, that it was in Ms. Franklin's spot. I 
askid her tu pleuK wind that. ',.\':mt I did oot tell 
her to do was to white it out. I jmt asked her to 
make a correction to that. 

Q. Did Ms. Ross say what unit she thought 
she was writing in? 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 
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Page 9 Page 11 

A Yes. She thought she was - I don't - I 
don't - cannot recall the room number. 

Q. I want you to go back to page 110 real 
quick for me. 

A Okay. Yes, sir. 
Q. If you see line 112 and you look at the 

line 112, which is the one below Ms. Franklin's in 
111, you see two entries on the 10th and 11th at 9:30 
-~ 11\.1\1\. :~ ~1..~~ ----~'> auu .1v.vv, 1;:, U.lC:U. '-VU\,\.Ai 

A Yes. 
Q. Now, flip back to page 109. Would you 

agree that there are no entries on page 109 for unit 
112 on Thursday the 10th and December the 11th? 

A Correct. 
Q. Do you know why that is the case'! 
A No. 
Q. If you look at page 110, on December 10th 

in Ms. Franklin's line, which is 111, there is a 
number that just says 10. It doesn't have a minute 
marker behind it. As part of your investigation, did 
you ever ask anyone why that was written that way? 

A No. 
Q. Do you know who wrote that number? 
A No. 
Q. Did you ask Shadell Hughes if she wrote 
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that number? 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did she say? 

Yes. A. 
Q. 
A 
Q. 

Did you ask her when she wrote it? 
She stated at 10:00. 
On Thursday? 

A Yes, sir. 
Q. If you would look at page 112 for 

Ms. Franklin's line, which is 111, would you agree 
that there is a blank in her space for December 13th, 
which is a Sunday? 

A Yes. 
Q. All right. So after this happened, if 

you were 1onkine Ht: the Joe; won lei yon aeree with me 
that the first time you saw the log, the log would 
have reflected empty spaces for December 11th, 
December 12th, and December 13th? 

A Yes. 
Q. All right. Now we're going to start. 

Tell me what your address is. 
A My home address? 
Q. Yes. 
A Four Swan Court, Palmyra, Virginia, 

22963. 
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Q. What county is that in? 
A. Fluvanna. 
Q. What's your educati~ Ms. Adcock? 
A. I am a licensed practical nurse and an 

assisted living administrator. 
Q. Where did you get your LPN degree? 
A. Halifax School of Practical Nursing. 
Q. Did you practice nursing before your 

A Yes, sir. 
Q. Where did you practice? 
A. I've been practicing nursing in South 

Boston, Virginia. 
Q. At a particular facility? 
A. \'es. I worked at - my entire nursing 

career, or are you just asking -
Q. Just South Boston. 
A. Okay. I've worked at Somerset Assisted 

Living. 
Q. All right Was that immediately prior to 

Commonwealth Senior Living? 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long did you work at Somerset? 
A. Since 2005. 
Q. When did you start at Commonwealth Senior 
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Living? 
A. They acquired that building, and I 

started working for them In 2013, September of 2013. 
Q. So mat~s 2005 to 20i3. When you were at 

Somerset between 2005 and 2013, what was your role? 
A. Director of nursing. 
Q. Did you have any role in management? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was that role? 
A. I managed the entire medical team. 

Q. Did you have any acbninistrative duties? 
A. I did assist, as needed, with the 

administrator and assistant administrator. 
Q. Prior to Somerset in 2005, what was your 

job prior to that? 

A. I was a charge nurse. 
Q. What's a charge nurse? 
A. That's just a nurse that's In charge over 

top of the nursing assistants and other nurses. 
Q. And where was that? 

Q. Where is MeadowView? 
A. Clark.wille, Virginia. 
Q. All right. Am I gathering correctly that 

the job at Conunonwealth Senior Living was the first 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 
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Page 13 Page 15 
1 time that you were more in an administrative role l A. The role under the preceptor was she was 
2 versus a nursing role? 2 monitoring and guiding me along the way. 
3 A. That's correct. 3 Q. But did you do anything differently? Did 
4 Q. Did you receive any particularized 4 you do the same functions -
5 training for your administrator's role versus the 5 A. Yes, sir. 
6 nursing role? 6 Q. -- that you do now? 
7 A. Yes, I did. 7 So really your job description didn't 
8 Q. What kind of training did you receive? 8 change, it's just that you passed the board; is that 
9 " I had to do - tu learn eve.-y depa.-tment 9 -~-•'> .t-.. '-"'11"""" • 

10 and what their roles are, to show competency in the 10 A. Yes, sir. 
11 regulations for assisted living, registered medication 11 Q. And you're no longer working there; is 
12 aides regulations, and that I could perform those 12 that right? 
13 duties, as well as budgeting and finance. 13 A. Correct. 
14 Q. Where did you get your training? 14 Q. Why did you leave? 
i5 A. The training was within the company. 15 A. Personal family issues. 
16 Q. So it was on site? 16 Q. I didn't ask for this in my discovery. 
17 A. Yes, sir. 17 Did you ever receive any disciplinary report or action 
18 Q. Did you get any particular degrees, 18 as a result of Ms. Franklin's incident? 
19 certificates? 19 A. No. 
20 A. I had to take a state board. 20 Q. In your role as - I'm calling it 
21 Q. When did you pass your state board? 21 administrator. Is it easier to say administrator or 
22 A. I took my state board in March of 2014. 22 executive director? 
23 Q. And again, when did you start with 23 A. Either. Executive director is fine. 
24 Connnonwealth Senior Living? 24 Q. I'm just going to call it administrator. 
25 A. September of 2013. 25 A. Okay. 

Page 14 Page 16 

1 Q. So what did you do at Connnonwealth Senior 1 Q. In your role as administrator, who did 
2 Living between September of 2013 and March of 2014? 2 you report to? 
3 A. I bad to apply to be an acting assisted 3 A. I report to the regional, who was the 
~ living adminisiraior under ihe guidance oi a ~ regionai assigned ai ihat time. 
5 preceptor. 5 Q. Who was the regional? 
6 Q. When did you start your role as executive 6 A. Currently? 
7 director for Connnonwea.lth Senior Living? 7 Q. No, at that time. 
8 A. That would have been when I passed the 8 A. At that time, Christine Driscoll. 
9 exam in March 2014. 9 Q. Did you know Christina? 

10 Q. What was your role called before you 10 A. Yes. 
11 passed the board? 11 Q. Did you have to get permission from 
12 A. Acting assistant living administrator. 12 Christina to make any decisions at your facility? 
13 Q. Were you participating in management? 13 A. Yes. 
14 A. Yes, sir. 14 Q. What type of decisions would you have to 
15 Q. What did you do prior tn pac::sing the 15 eet her pennission on? 
16 board from a management perspective? 16 A. It would have to be something that would 
17 A. I did the role of the administrator under 17 be not clearly guidelines for rate increases or 
18 the guidance of the preceptor. 18 something pertaining to the budget, something 
19 Q. Who was the preceptor? 19 pertaining to a human resource issue. 
20 A. Theresa Taplin. 20 Q. But as far as daily operations at the ,, 

" T- 'T"L --- - - -~11 ._1.. ---Cl ?1 f.ac;ility, that would be your responsibility? \./.• U) 1 UCl c;)d. l)Wl U1Cl C: 
22 A. No, sir. 22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. What did you do differently in your role 23 Q. Hiring, firing? 
24 under the preceptor, versus what you did in your role 24 A. With the guidance of the human resource 
25 after you passed the board? 25 department. 
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Page 17 Page 19 

Q. Program implementation? 
A. Correct. 
Q. Pessonnel issues that didn't re:quire 

lmman resources? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Staffing? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you have managers that reported to 

•""••,, JVU• 

A. Yes. 
Q. Who were they? And let me put a context 

as to time, which is right around June of 20 I 5, who 
were your managers? 

A. Don Manteris was the maintenance 
director. Holly Drobinski was the activities or 
comnnmlty - I can't remember what - we changed her 
title. She was the activities director. Terri 
Ball-Gropp was the sales and marketer. Tiffimy 
Nichols was our business office manager. And Ben was 
our dining service director. 

Q. Were any of those managers that you just 

nanm responsible for anything that happened at the 
receptionist desk, the front desk? Who would have 
supervision over the receptionist area? 

A. The bminess office manager. 

Q. And that would be Tiffany? 
A. That's correct. 

Page 18 

Q. All right So all the other persons that 
you mentioned - Holly, Ben - they wouid have no 
responstbility over the reception area? 

A. No. When they're manager on duty on the 
-weekend, they're there if there is an incident that 
arises. 

Q. A manager on duty, does a manager on duty 
have specific assigned jobs that it's required to do, 
that he or she is required to do? 

A. They're to be available for the team. 
They will be available for the company or guests that 
come in for tours. They manage and oversee the 
community during the time, and to he available hy 
call, by phone, if necessary, when they're not in the 
building. 

Q. Do you know whether or not any one of the 
managers that would be served as the manager on duty 
would have the responstbility of checking in with the 
receptionist to make sure that the ch~k-in program 
was being maintained accurately? 

A. Not unless it was for a particular 
reason. 

Q. So if there was no other manager on duty, 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

?1 

22 

23 

24 

25 

and the business manager wasn't on duty, the 
compliance with the program would be solely left to 
the receptionist; is that fair? 

A. No. The manager on duty would come and 
check and see If something was suspicious or not being 
done correctly. They did oversee to make sure that 
people's duties were being perfonned. 

Q. Well, rm a little confused now, because 

not have any respomibility, and now rm gathering 
that you're saying that they may have a 
responsibility. 

So just so we can clear it up, would a 
manager on duty have a respomibility to make sure 
that the receptionists are pertOrming their job 

correctly? 
A. They are to oversee someone when they're 

there, but the main respomibility of who to follow up 
with that is the supervisor for that department. 

Q. Which would be who? 
A. Which would be the business office 

manager. 
Q. Which was, when you started, Tiffany? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Now, Ms. Drobinsld has told us that you 
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had what she called stand-up meetings? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What's a stand-up meeting? 
A. A siand-up meeting is an opportuniiy ior 

all of the managers to come together to discuss the 
events of the day, what each person will be doing, any 
concerns, any things that we need to address, as well 
as the upcoming week. And then they communicate that 
to their team. 

Q. How often would you have these stand-up 
meetings? 

A. Daily. 
Q. And when did that start? 
A. We would start routinely. We would try 

to start every day at 9:30. If there wa.~ something 
that had come up that wasn't suspected, we would do it 
at a different time, but we would meet daily. 

Q. And who would participate in the stand-up 
meetings? 

A. All of the managers. 
Q. 1"1cluding Tiffany? 

A. That's correct. 
Q. Including Holly? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And I'm using them by their fust names. 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 
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Page 21 

rm sony. rll try to call you by Monica, if that's 
okay. 

A. Yes, sir, that's fine. 
Q. All right With the stand-up meetings, 

you said that they happen daily in the morning. My 
question was really when did they start in the 
beginning? Did they start as soon as you took 
ownership of the role of administrator? 

... They - I can't 1ecall exactly when we ./'-

exact started, but it was very soon after I came 
aboard, yes, sir. 

Q. Were you - were you conducting stand-up 
meetings as ofJlllle of2015? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And reterence bas been made to a stand-up 

log. Did you have someone talcing minutes at the 
stand-up meeting? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Who would take minutes? 
A. Tiffany. 
Q. And would Tiffany then generate a written 

report? 
A. No. We - no, sir. 
Q. What would she do when she took minutes? 
A. She would write on a specific form, and 

Page 22 

then we would keep it in a book. 
Q. And it's called a log? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And who maintained the iog? 
A. Tiffany. 
Q. And did she maintain that in her office? 
A. It was back in the reception area in the 

office. 
Q. When is the last time you saw the log? 
A. The last day that I was at Commonwealth. 
Q. So it continued to be used up until the 

time that you left? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When did you leave? 
A. A•1~1~t th~ 12th. 
Q. All right If you would look in the 

white book right there, flip to tab 2. Tab 2 contains 
several pages, greater than 60, but do you recognize 
these documents? 

A. Yes, sir. 
'"' Are they generally the package of '-1.· 

information that you had in Diane Franklin's file 
which contained her application, her general 
documents; is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 
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Page 23 

Q. And if you flip to page 45, is that your 
signature there? 

A Yes, it is. 
Q. And if you flip over to page 55, that 

appears to be the resident bandboo~ is that correct, 
or a page in the resident handbook? 

A Yes, sir. 
Q. And the daily check-~ is that the daily 

check-in that w-as in effect when Ms. Franklin ·w.us 
staying there? 

A Yes, sir. 
Q. Can you tell me what your understanding 

of this program was? 
A We were - these residents were 

independent living. We did not provide care, per se. 
We would just - for this was just to - we asked the 
resident to please call in by this time. And in the 
event that they did not call in, we would call them. 
If there was no answer, we would go and check their 
apartment. 

Q. What was your understanding as to when 
that go and check their apartment would take place? 

A We would do that- we would go in and 
check on them by 12. If they were not there, we would 
not put anything down, because we did not visibly see 

Page 24 

them. 
Q. Where is there any document that says 

they would go and check on them by 12, if they had not 

called in by i0:30? 
A That is not on here. Sometimes we would 

wait until the end of the day, but it is in their 
policy. 

Q. And you're pointing to here. Are you 
referring to page 55? 

A No. I'm referring to what we would do, 
what our policy was. 

Q. What was your policy? 
A That if the resident - to call the 

resident by 10:30. If they did not, to call them. 
And if they were nnt in their apartment- if we 

didn't get an answer by them, then to go check them by 
12. 

Q. So if they didn't call in by 10:30, there 
was no requirement to actually go physically check on 
them until 12; is that what you're saying? 

Q. And where is that written, or is it 
written anywhere? 

A In our policy. 
Q. What policy are you referring to? 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 
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Page 25 Page 27 
1 A. The actual policy that I have to go by to 1 24-hour period. After 10:30 they knew they were to go 
2 implement the program. 2 and start calling each one. Of course we didn't - to 
3 Q. Well, rm unfamiliar with this policy. 3 call each person that didn't come In. If they didn't 
4 Where was it located? 4 get an answer, to check on them within that day fi'ame. 
5 A. It was located in my office. 5 Q. But having looked at this, are you -
6 Q. And do you remember what it looked like? 6 does it refresh your recollection that you saw any 
7 A. Yes, sir. 7 document, or you generated any document that said it 
8 Q. Was it on Commonwealth Assisted Living 8 was okay to follow up by 12:00 at the apartment 
9 station"'T)1 9 itself? 

10 A. So it was guidelines for the executive 10 A. No. 
11 director duties to implement. 11 Q. You said that Christina Driscoll actually 
12 Q. Do you remember who generated the policy? 12 trained you; that's correct? 
13 A. The policy was given to me by the 13 A. Yes, sir. 
14 regional - the company. 14 Q. ActuaUy, you said someone else trained 
15 Q. Why don't you tlip over to tab 15. I'll .i5 you, but Christine Driscoll hired you'! 
16 represent to you that's the only policy I've seen. Is 16 A. So no, sir. Theresa Taplin is who 
17 that the policy you're referring to? 17 trained me. 
18 A. Yes, sir. 18 Q. Were you aware that Ms. DriscoU created 
19 Q. C'.an you identify just for the record what 19 the language tbafs in the plan, the check-in program? 
20 15 is titled? 20 A. I was aware she had part of it, yes, sir. 
21 A. This is the resident check-in - check 21 Q. Did you ever bave any conversatiom with 
22 system in independent living. 22 her about it? When I say "it," rm talking about the 
23 Q. So this is a policy that you were aware 23 program, the check-in program 
24 of from the begimrlng? 24 A. Yes. 
25 A. Yes. 25 Q. What kind of conversation did you have? 

Page 26 Page 28 

1 Q. All right. We're going to get back to 1 A. When the - we discussed which one we 
2 this, but I would ask you to take a second and review 2 would be implementing. I discussed with her which one 
3 this, if you would, and just tell me where it is that 3 of these choices we would implement for the community. 
~ you see a provision in ibis policy thai says that ifs 1 Q. So was ii your suggestion io her ihat you 
5 okay to check, or wait wrtil 12 o'clock to actually go 5 utiliz.e the daily check-in program, or was it a 
6 and check on the resident. 6 direction from her to you saying, we're going to do 
7 A. (Witness perusing document). 1 this? 
8 It doesn't. The only statement it bas is 8 A. It was - this policy was already in 
9 the policy that - making SlD'e that residents are 9 effect. 

10 checked once at least - at least once per 24-bolD' 10 Q. Okay. Did you guys discuss, you know, 
11 period. 11 what times you would use, how it would be implemented? 
12 Q. So where did the 12:00 time frame come 12 A. No. 
13 from? Was that something that you just interpreted to 13 Q. If you would, take a look at tab three, 
14 be in compliance with the policy, or was that a 14 Monica. 
15 directive from someone else? 15 A. Yes, sir. 
16 A. No, sir. After - after the incident we 16 Q. This was produced to me as an e-mail from 
17 worked to improve the system, and that was something 17 Christina, and I see that you are part of the copy. 
18 implemented. I just bad my time frame confused. 18 Do you remember receiving this e-mail, which evidently 
19 Q. Okay. rm not trying to confuse you. 19 included the edited version of the handbook? 
20 A. No. It was through - you know, up until 20 A. I don't recall. 
?1 tbii pumt we felt the sys'""..em was working -.-eiy well, 

,, ,... 
Do you fNer lWlerriber any discussions or '-/.· 

22 and then we've made improvements since then. 22 e-mails, trading back and forth about how the program 
23 Q. Well, I guess rm back to my question, 23 should be implemented, how training should be 
24 because rm not sure that - 24 utilized? Do you remember any e-mails like that from 
25 A. So I didn't have a time set within the 25 anybody else that was copied on this e-mail like 
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l Mr. Parlcer or Mr. Ix? 1 different form? 
2 A. No. 2 A. So as we - as you can go through, this 
3 Q. Do you remmmer any disc~ion that ever 3 is the form. And then we bad more people that were 
4 took place between you and Christina and/or Mr. Dix -- 4 under the new contract, and then we started adding the 
5 or Mr. Ix or Mr. Parker about how you were going to 5 names. 
6 implemmt the program? 6 Q. So you added additional infonnation to 
7 A. We discussed which choice we would use. 7 this form, but this is the form that was used? 
8 Q. What do you mean by which choice? 8 A. Yes, sir. 
~ A. 'When yuu iuuk back uo there, i.here'it a 9 ("\ And there nas never nn"j other fvuu, \tJicr "l• 

10 several different. We decided to use the phone 10 than this form? 
11 intercom cbeck-ilL 11 A. Prior to the incident, yes. 
12 Q. Okay. And who was part of that 

12 Q. When you said training, did you generate 
13 decision-making process? 13 any training manuaJs - any training materials for 
14 A. Myself and Christina. 

14 Tiffany to use? 
15 Q. So when it~ to actually implementing 

!5 A. Regarding this, no. 
16 the plan, was that solely your responstbility, or did 

16 Q. Did you have any training manuals that 
17 Christina also help you with that assigmmrt. 

17 bad been given to you about how to implement the 
18 18 program? A. It was my responsibility. 
19 Q. So how did you go about doing it? 

19 A. I bad the policy to go by. 
20 

20 Q. So all you had was the policy? _A_ Once it WBS approved to do the phone -
21 A. Yes, sir. 21 intercom check-in, we followed the handbook of what 

22 
22 Q. Did you ever participate in any was stated in there for the resident, and I met with 
23 session - training session or otherwise - about 23 'Dfl'any, who is our bminess ofDce manager. We 
24 other prognum that were similar to this program? 24 discmsed it. We met and talked with the managen 
25 A. No. 25 about what would be implemented, and then we devised a 

Page 30 Page 32 

1 form to go buy it. And then T'drany became - was 1 Q. Did you ask at any point in time 
2 over the concierge. And she monitored and trained, 2 management - Christina, or someone else - to approve 
3 and everyone was trained on how to follow through with 3 your training materials or any training materials that 
1 ii. ~ you prepared for Tiffany? 
5 Q. So you delegated the role of the 5 A. No. 
6 implementation of the program to Tiffany? 6 Q. Did you ask them to approve your idea for 
7 A. So I implemented the program and trained 7 implementation of the plan? 
8 her, and then she made the format and I approved it. 8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. What did you do to train Tiffany? 9 Q. And what did they say? 

10 A. We went over the policy, and then I 10 A. I asked them to approve - could we do 
11 explained to her how it would take place and the 11 the call check-in, and that we made a form. 
12 training that we would do, and then also the form - I 12 Q. And who said yes, it's okay? 
13 approved the form that she devised. 13 A. I don't recall. 
14 Q. Not to jump ahead, but if you would take 14 Q. At that point in time did you tell them 
15 a look at that - not in the tab. but that docwnent 15 that it wa~ going tn he your persona) decision that a 
16 that's twned over there, do you recogniz.e that 16 physical check of the resident would not be required 
17 document, ma'am? 17 until noon? 
18 A. Yes. 18 A. No. 
19 Q. Is that the logbook? 19 Q. When you said you trained Tiffany- I 
20 A. Yes. 20 think you said it - but you didn't have any materials ,, n 

"l· \Ve talked about this before, but if you ::>1 iliat you u5ed tu m;tmilly tr"1n Tiffany, corr~t? 
22 flip to the very fust page, page 76, is that the fonn 22 A. I went by the policy. 
23 you approved? 23 Q. Do you know if Tiffany generated any 
24 A. Yes. 24 materials that she would use to train the receptionist 
25 Q. Was there any - was there ever any 25 on the program? 
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A. No. It was actually verbal bands-on 
visual. 

Q. So no receptionist ever sat down with 
Tiffany, to your knowledge, in a one-on-one and was 
explained this program? 

A. Yes, sir. Tbatwas part of their 
training. 

MR. PACE: And just for the record, I know 
you're just ~up until the incident, r..ot w"lj' 

remedial ~ that were done after. 
MR. GA VIN: Correct. 

Q. Did you ever see any materials that 
Tiffany generated that she would share with the 
receptionist about the importance of the program? 

MR. PACE: Object to tOrm. You can amwer. 
A. This was - she would sit down with them 

oDMJo-one when they were training and go over all of 
om policies, which showed them the book, explained to 
them how to do it, they had to show us that they could 
do it, and it was told to them the importance of doing 
it. 

Q. All right. You're assuming Tiffany told 
them, because you didn't participate in these training 
sessions, correct? 

A. I did not participate in the training 

Page 34 

sessfom; however, I did visually see the employees 
acting out and doing the role suftidentJy, 
effectively. Also going and checking roomJ when 
peopie did not answer the phone on severai occasions. 

Q. Do you know whether Tiffany went over the 
policy with the employees? 

A. She explained it to them, yes, sir. 
Q. If you would flip back to tab 15, rd 

like to spend a little bit more time on the policy. 
If you look in the very first paragraph, 

it indicates that the purpose of the policy is to 
determine the safety and the well-being of the 
residents; would you agree that's what it says? 

A. Yes. 
Q. The last sentence says that there should 

be conmmnity procedures that are reviewed. Did you 
ever draft any comnnmity procedures with respect to 
the program? 

A. We bad just started this. And Tiffany 
and I would discuss, how is it? Is everything working 
------.....! -4 ....... appa upa uu.ay' 

Q. But-
A. And then updated and approved, we started 

adding the names as we went along, in addition. 
Q. I guess my question is: Did you draft 
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any community procedures that govern the program? 
A Meaning? 
Q. A written document? 
A About how we would annually update and 

check? 
Q. About how the program would be 

maintained, monitored, rules regarding 12:00, 1:00. 
Were there ever any written community procedures 
draf-..cd by you? 

A Prior to this incident, no. 
Q. Were there any written community 

procedures drafted, to your knowledge, by Tiffany? 
A No. 
Q. All right. The policy has, as you 

mentioned, several ditterent ways that this check-in 
could be accomplished. And I'm assuming, based on 
your previous testimony, that the only one that was 
available was C? 

A Correct. 
Q. The last sentence of that C says if a 

resident does not answer, each apartment will be 
physically checked. 

Was it your understanding that it was 
acceptable to have a delay between the fuilure of the 
resident to answer and the time that the apartment 

Page 36 

would be physically checked? 
A. Once they called and did not receive an 

amwer, at that time they would go and check. 
Q. Aild that caii was supposed 10 take piace 

not long after 10:30; is that correct? 
A. Correct. 
Q. So based on - and rm just looking at 

the call log and the nwnber of residents that 
participated. But based on that, if the residents 
hadn't called in by 10:30, wouldn't it be fair to say 
that every resident that was participating in the 
program could have been called back by 11? That would 
give 30 minutes. 

A. Not necessarily. 
Q. Do you remember how many: at the greatest 

time when the most residents were participating in the 
program, how many residents would that be? 

A. At the greatest time -
Q. At the time where the most nwnber of 

residents would be participating in the program, how 
ujQijy rQidents wvuld that be? 

A. It could be anywhere between 40, but at 
the time of this, 25. 

Q. 25. So you think it would take more than 
30 minutes to make the 25 phone calls of every person 
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1 to check on them? 1 A. Correct. 
2 A. Yes, sir. 2 Q. And what you're saying is that Tiffany 
3 Q. What's a fair time~ in your opiniOtL on 3 would give them reminders or would sW?2est to them 
4 bow long it would take to call residents that hadn't 4 different things that they should be doing, but there 
5 checked in? 5 was no formal training session, other than the first 
6 A. It's drcmmtantial. Each person that 6 training session that Tiffany would have with them? 
7 they called, if they bad not checked in or they did 7 A. Other than the ongoing coaching. 
8 not amwer, then they would have to go and get the key 8 Q. So when this policy says, be able to 
9 and physicala'y go tu their apa.~nt on whatc;2i" floor 9 d..ar..ow'"tratc und-:ratar .. T.;ag, then tbat would be purely 

10 and check on them, then come back and continue with 10 the subjective opinion of Tiffany, correct? 
11 the phone process. 11 A. Yes; and the visibility that I could see 
12 Q. I'm just talking about the call. How 12 that they were doing the position correctly. 
13 long do you think it would take your receptionist to 13 Q. And as far as a periodic refresher, the 
14 call all of the people around December of 2015 that 14 only periodic refreshment that they would have 
... s were on the list, if they bad not checked in at I 0:30'! J.5 received would have been a conunent from Tittimy; is 
16 A. It could take a couple of hours. 16 that correct? 
17 Q. To make calls? 17 A. Or coaching. 
18 A. Became if they don't get one, then they 18 Q. When you say coaching, what do you mean 
19 stop and they check on that person, and come back and 19 by coaching? 
20 call more. 20 A. That would be her continuing to - they 
21 Q. So you're saying they make a second call? 21 already understood and how to follow through with it. 
22 A. No. They continue down the roster after 22 It would be her going and encouraging, following up, 
23 they check on someone they do not hear from. 23 making sure it's done. Hnot, speaking with them, 
24 Q. All right. If you would flip to page 24 reiterating, making sure there's a clear 
25 144, which is the next page in that policy, 25 undentanding. 

Page 38 Page 40 

l paragraph 2 says that any of the associates that are 1 Q. Well, you would agree that safety is 
2 involved in the program should receive training, be 2 important at the fucility, wouldn't you? 
3 able to demonstrate 1Dlderstanding, and receive 3 A. Yes. 
1 periodic refreshers to ensure iheir compeiency. Do ~ Q. So the iailme of a receptionisi io 
5 you agree that's what it says? 5 comply with the program would be a big deal, wouldn't 
6 A. Yes. 6 it? 
7 Q. As far as the receptionists go, what 7 A. Yes. 
8 training did the receptionists receive, other than the 8 Q. Because if they don't follow up and make 
9 training that you believe that Tiffany gave to them 9 that physical check, somebody could die; is that 

10 one-on-one when they were hired? 10 correct? 
11 A. It was an ongoing process. 11 MR. PACE: Object to the fonn. 
12 Q. I guess that's not the answer to the 12 Q. Isn't that true? 
13 quemion. Was there any specific training - other 13 A. Our goal was to check to see if they 
14 than the time when Tiffany trained them one-on-one 14 needed assistance, and then to call if they needed 
15 \Wen they were hired about the program, was there any 15 9A.~i!iit8Dl".i"-
16 other training that was provided to the receptionist? 16 Q. But if somebody-
17 A. Yes. There was coaching. 17 A. Not provide it. 
18 Q. So there was coaching in the form of 18 Q. I'm sorry. I didn't mean to talk over 
19 what? 19 you. 
20 A. There were documentations of several 20 A. I'm sorry. ,, 

reauinders, anything in pm1kuLu that they nea:ed tu 
,, 

" Du-t if somebody didn't make that c~k, \.l.• 
22 lmow. And she would need one-on-one with them to talk 22 somebody could die in that apartment? 
23 to them if there was any concerns. 23 MR. PACE: Object to the form. You can 
24 Q. Okay. So Tiffany would monitor their job 24 answer, if you can. 
25 functions and their performance? 25 A. I mean, it's a possibility. 
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1 Q. And if somebody doesn't check on that 1 Q. There's an entry on there that says it 
2 apartment, if they don't die, their condition could 2 must be done every day for the highlighted apartments 
3 get much worse~ couldn't it? 3 before I 0:30~ or the resident must be called and 
4 MR. PACE: Object to the form. You can 4 checked on; is that what it says? 
5 answer. 5 A. Yes, sir. 
6 A. Yes. 6 Q. Is that something that you drafted? 
7 Q. This policy next says that every step of 7 A. No. 
8 the check-in process must be documented clearly, all 8 Q. Do you remember who generated that 
9 ..:..i..4-'l 9 1,,. ... ,....,...,...,.'> 

u.cu"• Mlll5'""6"' ; 
10 First of all, do you agree that's what it 10 A. Tiffany. 
11 says? 11 Q. Do you remember when it was first 
12 A. Yes. 12 implemented? 
13 Q. Did you have a way in the logbook to 13 A. Very shortly after I was - I don't 
14 differentiate the residents that were still in the 14 recall. 
~5 tact11ty on the weekends versus out, or was the only 15 Q. So this language would have been on the 
16 place that it was recorded would be on the logbook? 16 front of the logbook at the time that Ms. Franklin was 
17 A. So it would record on the logbook if they 17 a resident at the facility? 
18 were out. It would be written in their spot. 18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. So there was - I'm gathering there was 19 Q. Would there be any reason why a 
20 not a separate logbook that solely dealt with 20 receptionist would think that it would be okay to make 
21 residents that were out of the facility versus in the 21 a follow-up phone call as late as 3:00 in the 
22 facility; yes or no? 22 afternoon? 
23 A. I'm sorry? 23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. Was there a separate book? 24 Q. And what would be that reason? 
25 A. Only - only in the communication log. 25 A. If that person were not in, or they did 

Page 42 Page 44 
1 Q. Was it a separate list? When you say the 1 not see that person throughout the day, then 
2 communication log, what do you mean? 2 sometimes, yeah - and in the afternoon we'd check if 
3 A. Their shift-to-shift report. 3 there wasn't anything in the slot. 
'! Q. Okay. But was there a separate iogbook ~ Q. Bui wouidlit they be required to foiiow 
5 that maintained when residents were out of the 5 up right after 10:30 by a call and then a physical 
6 fucility? 6 check? 
7 A. No, sir. 

.., 
A. Sometimes residents weren't in their 

8 Q. If you'd go back to page 143 at C. If 8 apartments, so there wasn't anything signed. 
9 rm reading this correctly, it says at the designated 9 Q. But wasn't it still their duty to follow 

10 time, the ftont desk associate will compare the list 10 up and track that down immediately after 10:30? 
11 of those that have checked in to the current unit 11 A. It wasn't anything signed if they didn't 
12 roster and the residents out of the building list and 12 see the person. If they followed up and went and 
13 then call those residents. 13 checked on them and they didn't see them in the 
14 So when it says compare, that means to me 14 apartment, they didn't sign anything, because they 
15 that there shonlct he two different 1ists; is that your 15 didn't see the°"' hut they did follow up on them 
16 interpretation of the policy? 16 Q. So are you saying that if somebody did 
17 A. No. 17 not call at 10:30, and the receptionist went to 
18 Q. So your interpretation of the policy was 18 physically check on them, but was unable to locate 
19 that both the resident - the out-of-facility list 19 them, then it was okay for the receptionist just to go 
20 could be the same list as the call log list? 20 back to her desk and check later? 
?.1 " 

,r __ n " We were vnly tu clnk vii them bi their ~ .l.Q. .l'ie 

22 Q. If you look at the call log, the very 22 apartment. If they were not in their apartment and 
23 :front page, it's page 75, as I see it; is that 23 they weren't there, how they knew was there wouldn't 
24 correct? 24 be anything signed. 
25 A. Yes, sir. 25 Q. The entries that are on that call log, is 

I 
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1 there a way to differentiate between whether or not a 1 Q. So you never said at any point to 
2 resident is calling in and saying rm good, or whether 2 Tiffany: Tiffany, they're not complying with the 
3 a receptionist bas not received a call. and is calling 3 program; you need to do something about it? 
4 back to the resident to see if theYre okay? 4 A. No. I was seeing that it was being done 
5 A. On this current log, no. 5 appropriately. I didn't see a problem. 
6 Q. Do you know whether it was, in fa~ the 6 Q. ru get to this in a little bit, Monica, 
7 case where the receptionist would have to routinely 7 but I saw a shift report that indicated that the 
8 call the residents, or was it nme often the case that 8 logbook was now in a binder. What was it originally? 
9 the residents ·would just call hi to front desk and 9 \Vhat was the origfaal form? Was it just looseleaf 

10 then they would note their time? 10 paper? 
11 A. On several occasiom they did check on 11 A. They actually had it in with numbers that 
12 residents. 12 I can recall, and they actually made a special binder 
13 Q. Say prior to December of 2015, are you 13 for it. 
14 aware of how many times a receptionist made a physical 14 Q . All right But when --
.1.5 check on a resident'! .15 A. As it was growing and becoming larger. 
16 A. Several times a week I would see them 16 Q. But when it started was it just a sheet 
17 going to make checks. 17 on a clipboard, or how did it originally start, or do 
18 Q. When you say you would see them, where 18 you know? 
19 were you in a position to see them? Is your office 19 A. I don't recall. 
20 close to the receptionist's desk? 20 Q. That would have been Tiffany's 
21 A. Yes, sir. 21 responsibility? 
22 Q. So how did you !mow they were going to 22 A. Yes, sir. 
23 check on a resident? 23 Q. Did you ever make a comment in the book 
24 A. They would come to the key log box that 24 itself? Did you ever make an entry or writing in the 
25 we bad and get the key. And they would say, I'm going 25 book itself, the logbook? 

Page 46 Page 48 

1 to check on whoever the apartment number or resident 1 A. Not that I recall. 
2 was. They did not answer their phone. 2 Q. Take a look at the logbook at page 105. 
3 Q. Did you look at the logbook daily? 3 The only reason I ask this is because you clearly have 
4 A. No, sir. 4 a iefi-handed writing siyie, and this appears io be 
5 Q. Did you look at it ever? 5 left-handed. Is that your writing? 
6 A. Yes. 6 A. No, sir. 
7 Q. How oftm would you look at it? 7 Q. Do you know whose it is? 
8 A. At least weekly. 8 A. No, sir, I do not. 
9 Q. When you looked at it, would you look to 9 Q. Is this something that you would have 

10 see whether or not calls were being made? 10 seen, these comments, as part of your weekly review of 
11 A. Yes. 11 the logbooks? 
12 Q. Were you looking to see whether there 12 A. Yes. 
13 were empty blanks where no calls had been made? 13 Q. Now, the logbook says that - or the 
14 A. Yes. 14 program says that the highlighted people need to be 
15 MR. PACE: Object to the fonn. 15 called and checked on. Who wa.c; responsible for the 
16 Q. Did you ever connnent to Tiffany about 16 highlights? 
17 problems that you saw with compliance of the program? 17 A. Tiffany would update it. 
18 A. They weren't necessarily proble~. They 18 Q. So who would tell Tiffany the folks that 
19 said they always bad an explanation. They weren't 19 need to be highlighted versus the folks that do not 
20 there that day. They didn't see them in their 20 need to be highlighted? ,, 

apartrueut. '1 A y -·---•.JI ~ .a nuwu. 
22 Q. I guess my question is: Did you ever at 22 Q. So you would relay that information to 
23 any point see problems with the way the logbook was 23 Tiffany, Tiffany would then highlight it in the 
24 being maintained by the receptionist? 24 logbook Was that done weekly? 
25 A. No. 25 A. It was done as someone moved in. 
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Q. So once that initial communication had 
been made that they should be highlighted, then that 
was the standing order~ for lack of a better term? 

A. Yes. 
Q. So they would remain highlighted? 
A. That's correct. 
Q. Was Tiffany the only person, prior to the 

incident, that had responsibility for overseeing the 
1 ... ~1.. ...... 1.'l 
au0 uvvA.• 

A. Prior to the incident, yes. 
Q. Did you at any time assign it to anyone 

else, that responsibility? 
A. To the assistant business officer manager 

that filled in her place when she was out. 
Q. And that's Uiane Ross? 
A. That's correct. 
Q. We'll get to that in a while. 

The shift reports - and if you look at 
tab 14, do you recognize these documents in this tab? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What are they? 
A. They're the shift report - communication 

report between the receptionist. 
Q. And if you notice, they're not 

chronological with every day. There are some Jlllle 16, 
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another one June 21st, another one June 23rd, another 
one Jlllle 25th. As part of your weekly review of the 
logbook, would you also review the shift reports? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And is that something that you did 

weekly? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Would you do it daily or just weekly? 
A. Just weekly. 
Q. In reviewing these shift reports, did any 

of them strike you - or give any indication to you 
there was a problem with the program? 

A. No. 
Q. Would you look at page 119. This appears 

to he a shift report from a Ms. Rui;;h. Wai;; she a 
receptionist at the time? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was she a receptionist that would have 

had a responsibility to maintain the logbook? 
A. Yes; if she worked the day shift, yes. 
Q. The first eiitlj under her notes section 

says, Did all required residents check in yesterday? 
If so, please fill out the missing times. I 
highlighted them on the sheet for 6-20. 

Wouldn't that indicate to you that some 
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bad been missed on the prior day? 
A. Not necessarily. It could have been they 

were o~ and they did not actually see them when they 
went to the apartment. 

Q. Well, if that was the cas~ wouldn't that 
have been documented in the logbook? 

A. No. 
Q. So is there ever a reason to not put any 

entry in the logbook, because they're either in the 
facility or out. So would there ever be a reason to 
not have an entry on a particular date in the logbook? 

A. They would put that down if they- if 
they would not write anything until they actually went 
to the apartment and saw the person. H they went to 
the apartment and weren't there, they would not put 
anything down and comnnmicate that. 

Q. Connnunicate it to who? 
A. To the oncoming. 
Q. All right. So I would call that a pass 

it on. Was there a duty among the receptionists to 
pass on information from one shift to the next about 
residents? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Was that a policy that you had, or just 

something that Tiffany implemented by word of mouth? 
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A. This is something we implemented with 
their shift-to-shift reports. 

Q. I don't know that I got an answer back to 
that original question, though, which was: Is mere 
ever a reason, or would there ever be a reason that 
there would not be some type of entry by the end of 
the day for a resident? 

A. Yes; if that person bad not been in that 
apartment the entire time, and bad not notified us 
that they would be out of the facility. 

Q. And would that be the only incidence? 
A. That would be the only time that there 

should be a blank, yes, sir. 
Q. So in that case the resident would be 

totally unaccomrted for, because you wouldn't have 
checked them, you wouldn't know that they were out 
So that resident would be totally unacco\Dlted for; is 
that what you're saying? 

MR. PACE: Object to the form. You can 
answer. 

A. Su yes. \'\'e wviilil gv tu the apartment. 
That was the only place that we let them know we would 
be checking on theDL If they weren't there, they did 
not write that they saw them, because the time that 
they wrote was the actual time that they visibly saw 
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the person. 
Q. So are you saying that it's possible and 

. it was okay for the receptionist to not rely on a call 
from the resident, but to just see them in the lobby 
and then write down a check? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Was there a way that they differentiated 

that procedure in the logbook, a visual inspection or 
-•1..-. .!--'> 
vwc;1w~1 

A. No. 
Q. I'm going to ask you to flip over to the 

next page, which is 120. This appears to be a shift 
report from June 23rd, 2015; is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And you were reviewing these reports as 

part of your weekly monitoring of activities in the 
facility around June 23rd, 2015? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Ifyou look at the note from TiffanyN., 

is that Tiffany Nichols? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Was there any other Tiffany that worked 

at your &cility at that time? 
A. Not that I recall 
Q. There is a note in here under the notes 
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section under the second shift that says, The call log 
has not been getting done, which I am guilty of as, 
well. I made a binder that is next to the shift log. 

Iio you remember reviewing that shift 
report? 

A. I don't recall 
Q. If you had reviewed that, wouldn't that 

have given you an indication that there was a problem 
with the compliance aspect of the program? 

A. I saw no indication of it being an issue. 
Q. When you say you saw no indication of it, 

if you had read this shift report, wouldn't that be a 
written indication ofit? 

A. I just don't recall this. 
Q. On yon recoeni7.e Tiffany's writine? 
A. On some forms, yes. 
Q. The note above it says, rd like to first 

start off by saying a big thank you. 
Do you recognize that as Tiffany's 

writing? 
... .. , _ -
~ .aca. 
Q. There's a notation right after that 

comment that I just read to you that says, Please be 
sure we are doing this weekends too. 

Do you recognize that as Tiffany's 
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writin
.. ? g. 
A. Yes. 
Q. So wouldn't it be fair to say that 

Tiffany knew that the call Ic)g was not getting done 
based on that comment that she noted right behind? 

A. Yes, and that she's following op on it. 
Q. Did she ever report to you that there 

were problems with the maintenance of the program by 
the rcccptim1ist? 

A. No. 
Q. In your stand-up meetings, did Tiffany 

ever say to you that the call logs - or that the 
calls were not being made in a timely manner? 

A. No. 
Q. Would that have been her responsibility 

to tell you that? 
A. Yes. 
Q. But as a failsafe to that you were also 

monitoring the logbooks yourself? 
A. Yes. 
Q. All right. If you would look at the next 

page, 121, this appears to be a note from Tiffany 
Nichols; is that accurate? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And if you look down about two-thirds 

Page 

through the note section there is an asterisks. And 
it says, The call check-in log is located next to the 
computer. Please do daily. 

Is ibai the kind of refresher ihai youire 
talking about; in other words, was Tiffany actually 
pulling the receptionists aside, to your knowledge, 
and selling them, or was she just putting refreshers 
in these notes that were included in the shift 
reports? 

A. She did both. 
Q. If you look over at page 123, this is 

another shift report. It appears to be from Ashley 
Evans, which Ashley Evans is a receptionist? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wa~ she a receptionist that would have 

had a role to complete the logbook? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Right around the time that we're talking 

about, June 5th to December of last year? 
A. It was predominantly done on the first. 

56 

As the scwnd shift she wuiild fulluw up, if ne.-.ess&ry • 
Q. There's an asterisks at the bottom that 

says, We really need to stay on top of the resident 
call log and keep our emergency contact list updated. 

Is that part of the shift report that you 
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Page 57 Page 59 

would have viewed weekly? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you remember ever following up with 

Ashley on why she would write that note? 
A. No. 
Q. Would you agree that that would give you 

some indication that there might be a problem with 
compliance with the program? 

bow things worked. 
Q. When you say you discussed it with 

Tiffany several times how things worked, what do you 
mean? 

A. I would just ask her are there any 
problems that she's having'! Is there anything that we 

need to discms? 
Q. And did Tiffany ever say, you lmow, 

Crystal is not missing calls or Sbadell is not missing 
calls? Would she ever say anything that presented any 
evidence of a problem to you with compliance with the 
program? 

A. No. She would let me know that she did 

reminders, coaching, training. 
Q. If you look over at page 124, there is a 

note in there from Ashley Evans. And on the left it 

Page 

says, Crystal, please don't forget to complete the 
call check-in Jog. 

Would you agree that's an indication that 
maybe Crysiai is forgetting to compieie the check-in 
log? 

MR. PACE: Object to fonn. You can answer. 
A. She wasn't always on days. This was a 

58 

reminder. We always put reminders in for someone that 
wasn't routinely on days. 

MR. GA VIN: We've been going a little while. 
Do you want to take a break? 

A. I'm fine. 

MR. GA VIN: Okay. Weti I'm just going to 
take a break and get some more water. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, okay. 
MR. GAVIN: Gooffforasecond 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Off the record at 11 :40 

a.m 
(Whereupon, a recess WclS taken). 
THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're now on the record 

-•11.AA--
'" ' '·- O.ll.L 

BY MR. GA VIN: 
Q. Monica, we're back after a short break. 

I'm going to continue with where I WclS. 

As I understand, the only problems or the 
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only times that you were made aware that a problem may 
have existed with compliance of the program would have 
been when Tiffany alerted you to it; is that fair? 

A. Yes, or I noticed something in the 
handout, but yes. 

Q. Do you remember any particular time that 
Tiffany alerted you to a particular problem -

A. No. 
Q. - with ev--mpH<mcc of the prograaT ... Do 

you remember any time that you looked at the logbook 
and specifically said, this is a problem? 

A. No. 
Q. I want to take a look at the logbook real 

quick and just sort of scan through if, if you'd set 
that book aside. l'mjust going to start at the 
beginning, and I'm starting with unit 327. And I flip 
through to unit 327 and I see that on page 78, if 
you'll flip to page 78, that there are two blanks for 
May 3rd and for May 9th. Ms. King was the only 
resident in the program at that time; is that correct? 

MR. PACE: rd just ask that we agree to 
keep other residents' names -

Q. No problem. The resident of 327 was the 

only resident in the program? 
A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. But on that week there were two blanks. 
Do you remember trying to account for those two 
blanks? 

A. i don't recall. 
Q. If you flip to the next week, which is 

page 79, there is one blank for May I 0th for that 
resident on May I 0th; is that correct? 

A Yes. 
Q. Any explanation for that blank line? 
A. No. 
Q. If you had looked at those two weeks, 

wouldn't that - in your weekly review of the 
reports - wouldn't that have presented an issue for 
you to investigate as to why these lines were blank? 

A. V~~-

Q. Do you remember conducting an 
investigation? 

A I remember questioning. They did not see 
that particular person for that day was the 
explanation. 

Q. If you look at the nex"t page, page 80, 
for resident 327 there is a blank for May 17th and 
May 19th. Any explanation as to why they would be 
blanks? 

A I don't recall. 
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Page 61 Page 63 

Q. Wouldn't it be fair to say that just 
looking at those three weeks for that one resident, 
who was the only ~ident in the program that calls 
were being missed as early as May? 

MR. PACE: Object to the form. You can 
amwer. 

A No, sir, because if they weren't In their 
apartment, then we would not have written anything, 
and residen~ would uvt always uvtffy m that tte;· 
were going out. So if they knew that they were out, 
they would make an Indication that they were out of 
the facility. But if they did not, and the resident 
did not call, and we called them and went to their 
apartment and they weren't there, then there would be 
no indication here. 

Q. Would there have been a policy if you 
went to the apartment - and rm not saying you. rm 
being generic. If one of your receptionists bad went 
to the apartment and bad not got an amwer, and I 
gu~ asswning bad got a key and checked in the 
apartment, and there still wasn't anyone there, so 
they made the assumption that they were out of the 
facility, they wouldn't have written it in the book at 
all that they were out Would they have called a 
family member to follow up to see whether or not the 
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family member or an emergency contact would know of 
their whereabouts? 

A. No. These were independent living 
residents, and a ioi oi ihem specifically did noi wani 
their family called or notified. We would not have 
done that. We would have waited. 

Q. So you would have just waited and left it 
blank in the logbook? 

A. Yes. 
Q. All right. If you look - going back to 

page 79, I see there is an entry for a new resident, 
the second resident, 214. And there is a check-in 
almost every day for her for that week And then I go 
to the next wee~ which is on page 80, and I don't see 
a i;ingle check-in. And then T go to the next week~ 

which is page 81, and then she's back to being checked 
up again. 

ls your recollection that the resident of 
214 was out the entire week ofMay 17 through May 
23rd? 

.A TL---- -- -----••--d-- -1' ... L-4. 
.I"- .I. uan: llU ·~UC\:UUU Ul LllZILo 

Q. Would you agree that there is no entries 
in 214 for any date during that week of May 17 through 
May 23rd? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Now let's move to Ms. Franklin's sheet, 
which is next. It starts at page 81. There's a 
question mark on May 27th. Wea let's flip to the 
May 30th. Is there any kind of an entry for May 30th? 

A. Yes. On page 81? 
Q. Yeah, for Ms. Franklin, who is in unit 

111? 
A. Yes. 
Q. On May 3~Ji, S&~day? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Are we looking at the same one? 

MR. PACE: You're not looking at 
Ms. Franklin. She's in 111, further up the page. 

A. Oh, I'm sorry. I'm sorry. Excuse me. I 
was still at the other resident. I'm so sorry. 

No, sir. 
Q. What about the next day, May 31st? 
A. No, sir. 
Q. How about go to the week of May 31st 

through June 6, and if you look down at resident 327, 
do you see the calls that are made there? 

MR. PACE: Object to the form. You can 
answer. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know whether those were calls made 
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fiom the resident to the facility, or from the 
receptionist to the resident? 

A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you see that m mat week, four of the 

six are after 1 1 :00? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you see one as late as 4:28 on June 

5th? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is there any entry at all for June 4th? 
A. No. There's a mark through there. 
Q. Is there a reason why an entry would be 

made as late as 4:28 in the afternoon? 
A. If the resident had been out all day and 

had j•1~t com~ in, that wo•lld ~ th~ ~!!Ion for that. 
Q. If you flip to page 83, rm looking at 

Ms. Franklin's line, which is unit 111. Would you 
agree that there's blanks for June 10th and June 13th? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you have any explanation? 

" 'a.T • 
.I"- .l'lllU. 

Q. Would you flip to page 84 and look at 
June 14th? Is there a blank or any entry for 
Ms. Franklin's unit 111? 

A. No. 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 
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Q. Just from my observation, is there a 
pattern appearing that it's more of a problem on the 
weekends that these entries are not being made versus 
other days of the week? 

A. It's known that a lot of the residents go 
out - are out during the weekends, more so than 
during the week. 

Q. Do you know what Ms. Franklin was doing? 
I don't recall. 

Q. Did you know whether the receptionists 
were ever instructed on whether Ms. Franklin would be 
leaving the fucility often or staying in her 
residence? 

A. No. 
Q. 1fyou tlip to page 84, that's the week 

of June 14 through June 20. For Ms. Franklin's unit 
of 111, I count three missing entries; would you 
agree? 

A. Yes. 
Q. So, I mean, by my calculations, in the 

first 25 days that Ms. Franklin was there, there are 
nine blanks where she wasn't called. 

A. It doesn't necessarily mean that she 
wasn't calJed. It just means they didn't see her. 

Q. If they didn't see her, wouldn't that 
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create a problem? 
A. She at that time was driving, and she 

would leave and not always report to the front desk. 
Q. Wiih these times, t0 your knowiedge, was 

Ms. Franklin ever told that if she was leaving, she 
needed to report to the front desk? 

A. I didn't hear anyone ten that. She was 
informed that upon her move-in. 

Q. With nine missed blanks in 25 days, 
wouldn't - if you review these shift reports, why 
wouldn't that generate some curiosity in your mind 
that there may be a problem with the compliance with 
the check-in report? 

MR. PACE: Object to form. You can amwer. 
A. As I discmsed, Tiffany and I disru4iised 

the reports and asked her were things going well, was 
there a clear understanding; and she said yes. And on 
a routine basis, I saw them making the calls, going to 
the apartments and checking on residents. I saw it 
every day that I was there someone just about had to 
be dif(;kei: vu, and that the duty was beiug pa-funned. 

Q. I guess I'm looking at page 84, line 111, 
and I'm trying to determination for myself: How would 
you make that conclusion? There is no entry as to 
whether she's out or not, correct? 
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A. Correct. 
Q. And I think you said earlier that the out 

log was maintained as part of this log? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Let's just assume that Ms. Franklin was 

in her residence on June 14th, June 18th, and June 
20th, and calls weren't made. Wouldn't that be a big 
problem? 

MR. PACE: Object to form. You can answer. 
A. Can you explain? 
Q. If Ms. Franklin was in her residence on 

June 14th and a call was not made, she could have been 
in the apartment unsafe, not well, and in a very 
dangerous condition; agreed? 

A. Yes. She also bad her bell button to 
push as well that she wore. 

Q. Well, what if she bad a stroke and 
couldn't get to the bell button; agreed? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And that would directly affect her 

safety; agreed? 
A. Yes. 
Q. As you look through the logbook, even as 

the residents fill up, did you notice that calls were 
being made very late in the day? 
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MR. PACE: Object to form. You can answer 
if you can. 

A. Am I noticing that calls are being 
made-

Q. Did you ever observe that calls are being 
made very late in the day? 

Let me just give you an example. Just 
flip to page 90. 

A. Okay. 
Q. And rm looking at resident line 207. 

The only reason it struck me is because it's in red. 
There's a call check-in at 5:30 p.m. 

MR. PACE: Object to form. And the reason I 
keep objecting is because you say the call was made at 
5:JO. This time could indicate whether they calJed 
us, we called them, we saw them physically, we went to 
their apartment and checked and found them. That's 
what the time represents. And you've pointed out over 
and over again, there is no indication in this whether 
it was they called us, we called them, we saw them in 
the lobby or in the dining room, etcetera. 

Q. If the resident bad called in - I'm 
using this particular example - if the resident bad 
called in prior to 10:30, that would have been noted, 
correct? 
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Page 69 Page 71 

A. Yes. 
Q. So it's fair to say that the resident 

called in by 10:30? 
A. Correct. 
Q. So you don't lmow when a receptionist may 

have called to the resident number 207 on Thursday, 
the 30th of August; you just lmow that at some point 
in time at 5:30 p.m. she was finally accounted for? 

A. That's curred 
Q. When were you first made aware that 

Tiffany was leaving for maternity? I guess you saw it 
coming? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Well, when did she decide to leave? 
A. I can't say the exact date, but it was -

the actual date that she went out on maternity leave? 
Q. Uh-hub. 
A. She went out on maternity leave - it was 

in November. I jmt don't remember the date. I'm 
sorry. 

Q. When she left, did you have a discussion 
with upper management about whether or not she needed 
to be officially replaced, or were you trying to hold 
her job for her to C01lle back? 

A. So it was a determination made. She bad 
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applled for the proper FMLA procedures, and it was 
approved that she could have her maternity leave and 
come back to her position. In the meantime, we would 
have an adequaie person trained. 

Q. Okay. Now, the adequate person, I'm 
gathering, was Diane Gentry Ross? 

A. That's correct 
Q. So was a decision made that Diane Gentry 

Ross would be a manager? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And did she receive, for example, an 

increase in pay? 
A. She was an interim at that time. 
Q. But as an interim did she re.ceive an 

increase in pay of what she had been making pure1y as 
a receptionist? 

A. No. 
Q. Did she get assigned an official title of 

interim office manager? 
A. Yes. 

"' Was stie ir.ttruduced tu the stand-up 'l.· 

meetings? 
A. Yes. 
Q. So when did she start participating in 

the stand-up meetings? 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

i5 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

2 

3 

~ 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

:>1 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. She started immediately, some while 
Tiffany was still there and training her. 

Q. What type of training are you saying that 
Diane Ross received? 

A. Very intense training. It was even -
she spent several weeks with her overseeing her, 
training her, showing her how to do the duties. 

Q. All right. So are you saying that the 
traming was conducted by Tiffany? 

A. Yes. 
Q. So she didn't go to any off-site 

management training; she just was trained by Tiffany? 
A. Correct. 
Q. But you're saying that Tiffany conducted 

extensive training t0r her'! 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know whether Tiffany used any 

written materials? 
A. She went by the policies and procedures 

for her position that we had there. 
Q. Do you know whether Tiffany showed her 

the policy which is part of tab 1 S in the book? 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did she sign off on any of the training 

that she received? 

Page 72 

A. No. I don't recall. 
Q. Did Tiffany create an itemiz.ation or a 

list indicating what training was provided? 
A. She fixed her a go-to book, a manuai to 

go by. 
Q. Were you familiar - how were you 

familiar with Ms. Ro~? 
A. Very well. She - prior to her doing it, 

she was the lint shift concierge that did the log 
check-in. 

Q. Did she have any type of management 
experience in her past, to your lmowledge? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Where? 
A. She had worked in a hank~ and wa.~ in some 

form of a management role there. 
Q. Was she still performing the role of 

receptionist as of December 1st, 2015, or was she 
strictly an office manager? 

A. She did dual roles. 
Q. So she was charged with bvth overseeing 

the office and participating at the front desk? 
A. Yes, with the assistance of myself, and 

then some receptionists would come in on days to 
assist for her to be able to complete her other 
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duties. 
Q. I think we established earlier that 

_Ms. Nichols, Tiffany, would have been your manager 
that oversaw and was responsible for the maintenance 
of the logbook I assume up until she left for 
maternity leave? 

A. Yes. 
Q. When Ms. Ross came on to be interim 

manager, did you tell her that she Vvas also charged 
with the responsibility of overseeing the logbook? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did you give any kind ofwritten 

communication to her about that, or did you just tell 
her? 

A. Verbal. 
Q. So as far as you understood, she had 

responsibility for the logbook? 
A. Yes. 
Q. If she was not there because she wasn't 

working, then who would have had responsibility for 
the logbook in her absence? 

A. Then I would have fallen into that role, 
if she was not in that position. 

Q. So the person that would have been 
checking up on the logbook would have been you, or 

Page 74 

would it have been a manager on duty, for example? 
A. Or a manager on duty if there was a 

question at hand. 
Q. Okay. So ifs Diane Ross, primary 

responsibility. If Diane is not working, then it 
either falls to you or to the manager on duty? 

A. Yes. 
Q. All right. I think we went over very 

early that - if you'll flip to page 110 - and I 
think 110 is what you descn"bed as being an account of 
the logbook when you first saw the logbook at the 
initiation of your investigation? 

MR. GA VIN: Am I right on that, Ben? 
MR. PACE: On the Monday, yeah. 
MR. GA VIN: On the Monday. 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. All right So when you saw it on Monday, 

it would have bad a blank for December 11th, a 
scnbble for December 12th, and a blank for December 
13th? 

A. 
Q. If any one of your managers had seen 

those three consecutive entries or non entries, 
wouldn't that have created a problem that needed 
investigation by one of your supervisors? 

2 

6 

7 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

2 

3 

5 

6 

7 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

,, 
22 

23 

24 

25 

A. Yes. So when this was reviewed before I 
saw this sheet., there was something there for Friday. 

MR. PACE: That's what Holly testified to 
earlier. 

Q. I'm sorry. 
A. When I started my investigation on Monday 

and asked for the form, this is the form that I 
received. And I was made aware that Friday they 
sii;ued in the nTG&g spot fur Ms. Franklin, and they 
corrected it. 

Q. We~ rn have to rely on the record at 
this point. I'm not sure what she said 

A. So she had told me, she said, Do you want 
me to correct it? I said, It nee& to be factual of 
what actually-

Q. Let me ask you a different way, because 
the record will say whatever you said If there were 
three days that were blank, wouldn't you think that it 
would be incwnbent upon a supervisor to conduct an 
inv~tigation as to why those three days were blank 
consecutively? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Is it your belief, Ms. Adcoc~ that the 

tragedy of Ms. Franklin - and it was a tragedy, we 
all agree with that -

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. - was solely the respomibility of the 

receptionists? 

Page 76 

MR. PACE: Object to the fonn. ii calls for 
an opinion, but you can answer. 

A. No. 
Q. If it wasn't solely their responsibility, 

I assume that some responsibility lies with 
management; would that be fair to say? 

A. Well, the incident - the respomibility 
was for them to check her room to see if she was 
there. That was the respomibility. To prevent the 
incident was - I mean, they were just to go and 
check. And according to what we bad, Thursday there 
wa.~ a signature, Friday there wa.~ a signature, Sunday 
Holly asked because she had not seen Ms. Franklin and 
saw a lot of papers outside. And she did go up as a 
manager and inquire about it. 

Q. I need to explore that again, then. Are 
you saying that when you saw the logbook for the first 
time t.1wie was an wtiy for f:riday? 

A. I was told via phone that there was an 
entry for Friday. 

Q. Whenyou-
A. On the day that I was notified of the 

COOK & WILEY, INC. 



1 

2 

3 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

.1.5 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

3 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

22 

23 

24 

25 

20 (Pages 77 to 80) 

Page 77 Page 79 

incident. 
Q. When you saw i~ was there an entry for 

Friday? 
A. When I asked - before I was given the 

form, I was told on Monday, I've made an error. I 
signed in that I saw Ms. Franklin Friday, and actually 

it was supposed to be for another apartment. I said, 

Well, then, I need the actual what we really saw. 

Q. Who told you that? 
A. Diane. 
Q. Okay. Well, at that point in time Diane 

didn't have the respomibility for the logbook, unless 
she was serving as the receptionist; wouldn't that be 
correct'! 

A. So once again, she was working that day, 

m well as ShadelL So she filled in the sheet, 
became if she happened to answer the phone and that 
particular resident was calling in, then she would 
have signed the book. 

Q. Do you remember Ms. Ross's statement that 
you took on December 15th? 

A. Not completely without reviewing it. 
Q. Let's take a look at that real quick, if 

you would flip to tab 7. 

Page 78 

The assumption I guess to me at the very 
beginning of tab 7, which is page 132 on the stamp -
well, first of all, is that your signature at the 
bottom? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. All right. So this is a summary of the 

investigation that you took for Ms. Ross? 
A. Yes. 
Q. All right. You called her at that point 

in time a receptionist, but you've indicated today 
that she was actually an interim manager. Now, did 
you consider, for pmpose of this investigation, a 
manager or a receptionist? 

A She was as an interim manager -
Q. All rieJlt. T know -

A - who would fall back into the 
receptionist role. She - I mean, that was no -

Q. Well, I saw that you treated the 
employees - "treat" is a bad word The interview 
questionnaires that you used for the employees were 
different than the ones that you provided or that 
Holly provided. Were the managers not required to 
participate in one of these official questionnaires? 

A. As the manager on duty, that's why Holly 
filled out the form she did. She was the actual 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

2 

3 

6 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

22 

23 

24 

25 

manager on duty during the time of the event. 
Q. She gave a written, typed-out statement 

Did she also fill out one of these investigation 
interview questionnaires? 

A. Became I had her written statement, I 
don't recall sitting down with her. I can't remember. 
rm pretty sure, since I bad that, that would suffice. 

Q. Okay. Now I'm going to tum to the 
sb&tcu,cnt. It appcw-s that Ms. Ross says urAlcr the 
what happened section, the last sentence, I did not 
check the call log to follow up on Shadell to see if 
everyone was calling in and signing the log. This is 
the duty of the receptionist 

If she was a manager, why wouldn't it 
have been her duty to follow up on the logbook to make 

sure that everybody was calling in? 
A. She's referring to that isolated 

ind dent. 

Q. Well, whether it's i~lated or no~ 
wouldn't it have been her duty as the interim manager 
to follow up on the logbook to make sure that the 

calls are being made? 
A. Yes. 
Q. I'm almost complete, Ms. Adcock 

If Diane was not working on Friday the 

Page 80 

12th - let me just confirm that. 
MR. PACE: I think Friday was the 11th, and 

Diane was working. 
Q. If you wouid flip 10 tab iO, Mr. Pace is 

correct, and I was not. Saturday is the 12th. If you 
look at the work schedule for Diane Ross for that 
week, I see that she worked Tuesday, Wednesday, 
Thursday, and Friday. I saw a report somewhere 
indicating she was actually out Wednesday I guess for 
sic~, but she worked Thursday and Friday. She was 
off on Saturday; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And then she was off on Sunday? 
A. Yes. 
Q. So specifica11y to Saturday the 12th, if 

she was not there, who would have bad responsibility 
for maintenance of the logbook, or oversight of the 
logbook? 

A. So this is the respomibllity of the 
recepdonist to fill out the logbook. If there is any 
q&D-tiuu, the managei· on duty will ask at that ~ 
but is there someone standing over them the entire day 
24-7 monitoring them doing the logbook? No. There Is 
a weekly review. There is an oversight. They go in 
periodically and look behind to make sure the logbook 
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1 is being done, but every single day 24-7 standing over 1 A. Yes, sir. 
2 them to make sure that they're completing it, no, sir. 2 Q. And then the other question - we talked 
3 Q. What about once per 24 hours. not every 3 a lot about blanks in the logbook. For any particular 
4 minute? What about once for 24 hours? 4 blank in the logbook, you don't have any knowledge why 
5 A. Daily there is not - they're to go and 5 it's present. You can only state why - what would be 
6 check If there is something that is questionable. 6 an acceptable explanation to you for why it was blank? 
7 Q. So what rm hearing you say - and I want 7 A. Yes. That's correct. 
8 to make sure that we're clear on this - for . 8 Q. So for all ~ blapks that you-all went 
9 Saturday - cmd that's Sut''1rday, because O:wnc Ross 9 -~ ·-·· ~~ ........... :t: ..... 11 •• 1--·· •• .i. ... 1. .. - ....... ~ •• .:.t. 

v•"'~' JVU. uvu L .,j.l'NUJ."°"J AUVn n.-L .-.,~ nuu 
10 was not working, the sole respomibility for 10 that resident on that day? 
11 compliance of the program would have been left with 11 A. No. 
12 the receptionist, unless the receptionist saw a need 12 Q. And it's possible that they just didn't 
13 to call the manager on duty for a particular problem? 13 call and we didn't follow up; that's a possibility? 
14 A. Correct. 14 A. Yes. 
... 5 Q. So there was no manager on duty or J.5 Q. Because you don't know from personal 
16 manager that had any oversight responsibilities of the 16 lmowledge whether that happened or not? 
17 program on that Saturday, unless a receptionist 17 A. Correct. 
18 created a problem or raised a problem to that manager 18 MR. PACE: All right. Thank you. I just 
19 on duty? 19 wanted to make that clear, Chuck. 
20 A. Correct. 20 MR. GA VIN: I don't have anything else. 
21 Q. And the same would apply for that Sunday? 21 THE WITNESS: Okay. Thank you. 
22 A. Yes. 22 MR. GAVIN: Thank you, Ms. Adcock. 
23 Q. If there had been a problem raised by a 23 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Off the record at 12:16 
24 receptionist on that Saturday the 12th and that Sunday 24 p.m 
25 the 13th, who would it have been escalated to, you or 25 
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1 to Holly? 1 AND FURTHER nns DEPONENT SAITH NOT 
2 A. To Holly. 2 (The deposition concluded at 12: 16 p.m.) 
3 :MR. GA VIN: All right. Monica, thank you 3 

.: ior answering my questions. 4 

5 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. Thank you. 5 

6 :MR. PACE: Just real quick - and rm just 6 

7 doing this for your benefit, too, in case you had any 7 

8 questions about it. 8 

9 9 

10 EXAMINATION BY MR. PACE: 10 

11 11 

12 Q. Asked you a little bit earlier about the 12 

13 residents leaving the facility? 13 

14 A. Yes, sir. 14 

15 Q. Isn't it true that they're not required 15 

16 to tell you if they were leaving, because they were 16 

17 independent? 17 

18 A. That's correct. 18 

19 Q. And it's in the resident handbook that 19 

20 they're encouraged - we request that you call the 20 

n front desk with this information. family and friends ?1 

22 are often concerned if we cannot locate you. That's 22 

23 on page 58, which is page 10 of the resident handbook. 23 

24 Was that your understanding of how that 24 

25 worked? 25 
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COMMONWEAL TH OF VIRGINIA, 
CITY OF RICHMOND, to wit: 

I, Lisa M Blair, a Notary Public 
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for the State of Virginia at Large, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing deposition of MONICA ADCOCK was 
duly sworn to before me at the time and place set out 
in the caption hereto. 

Further, that the transcript of 
the deposition is true and correct, and that there 
were O exh!oits filed with me during the taking 
hereof. 

Given under my hand this lst 
day of October, 2 . . 

-- - ·- - -·- ·· 
Notary Public for the 
State of Virginia at Large 

My Commission expires: 
October 3i, 20i6 
Notary registration #: 253150 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, 
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CITY/COUNTY OF---- --- - - to wit: 

I, iviONICA ADCOCK, do herei:>y 
certify that I have read the foregoing pages of 
typewritten matter numbered I through 85, and that the 
same contains a true and correct transcription of the 
deposition given by me on the 21st day of September, 
2016, with the exception of the noted corrections, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief. 

Date MONICA ADCOCK 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 
this __ day of 2016. 

My commission expires 

Notary Public 
Notary registration#: _____ _ 

,.... .......... -....;. . ~ --~ 
~ ·~ ... ~ . : ......... "\ ... ~ ,- ... ~-
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